
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Changbo Bai <changbo@sprint.ca>, Stas Burgiel <sb4997a@american.edu>, Chad
Carpenter LL.M. <chadc@iisd.org>, Joanna Depledge <j.depledge@ucl.ac.uk>, Leila Mead <leila@interport.net> and Lavanya Rajamani LL.M. <lrajamani@hotmail.com>.
The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The WWW Content is designed by Andrei
Henry <ahenry@iisd.ca>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States
(through USAID) and the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape. General Support for the Bulletin during 1999 is provided by the United Kingdom Department
for International Development (DFID), the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Community (DG-XI), the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment
of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Global
Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-
212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada.  The opinions expressed in
the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be
used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing
Editor. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. For information on
the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>. 

��������	 �� ��� 
������������ 
�������� ��� ����������� �����������Vol. 9  No. 115 M onday, 22 February 1999

Earth Negotiations Bulletin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development NegotiationsIIS

D
������

��	

 HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE 
SIXTH SESSION OF THE OPEN-ENDED AD HOC 
WORKING GROUP ON BIOSAFETY (BSWG-6)

FRIDAY, 19 FEBRUARY-SUNDAY, 21 FEBRUARY
From Friday, 19 February through to Sunday, 21 February, dele-

gates to the sixth session of the Open-ended Ad Hoc Working Group 

on Biosafety (BSWG-6) continued their efforts to finalize a biosafety 

protocol. Throughout the day on Friday and into the early hours of 

Saturday, the Friends of the Chair, as well as regional and informal 

groups, reviewed the Chair’s draft text (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/6/L.2*). 

In a Saturday morning plenary, the Chair announced that outstanding 

issues would be considered by a “Friends of the Minister” group, 

convened at the initiative of the Colombian Environment Minister 

Juan Mayr and including a few select representative countries. The 

Friends of the Minister continued their deliberations into the early 

hours of Sunday. Throughout the day on Sunday, delegates debated 

the text in informal discussions. Consultations were set to continue 

during the night, with the final BSWG plenary scheduled for 8:00 am 

Monday. 

FRIDAY

Throughout the day, the Friends of the Chair discussed the Chair’s 

revised text article by article and highlighted the outstanding issues. A 

sub-group was convened to deal specifically with Articles 4 (Scope), 5 

(Application of the AIA Procedure), and 6 (Notification). The Friends 

of the Chair adjourned temporarily to allow for informal consultations 

and were expected to reconvene at 9:00 pm and continue discussions 

into the night. At 2:30 am, delegates were told that the group would 

not reconvene until later that morning. 

SATURDAY

In a Saturday morning Plenary, Chair Koester informed delegates 

that, despite a good atmosphere, little progress had been made on 

Friday, either in the Friends of the Chair or in subsequent bilateral 

consultations. He reported that, in order to advance the process, 

Minister Mayr had decided to convene consultations with a limited 

group of delegates. The Friends of the Minister group, consisting of 

representatives of the Like-minded Group, the Miami Group, the EU 

and Japan, had first met on Saturday morning to take up Articles 4 

(Scope), 5 (Application of the AIA procedure) and 6 (Notification). 

He said that this group would continue to meet throughout Saturday. 

Colombian Environment Minister Mayr expressed optimism that the 

protocol would be successfully concluded. 

SUNDAY

On Sunday, the Friends of the Chair met in the morning. Chair 

Koester appealed for adoption of a revised Chair’s text (UNEP/CBD/

BSWG/6/L.2/Rev.1) that was distributed immediately prior to the 

meeting. He stated that the text was based on discussions in the 

Friends of the Minister group and other consultations. The revised 

Chair’s text contained modified versions of Articles 4, 5, 6, 24 (Socio-

economic considerations) and 25 (Liability and Redress). Delegates 

requested time to consider the text. Key new elements of the text were 

as follows: 

AIA: The AIA procedure will apply “prior” to the first trans-

boundary movement of LMOs for “intentional introduction into the 

environment.” The specific reference to LMOs destined for “growth, 

reproduction and propagation” was deleted. LMOs intended for direct 



Monday, 22 February 1999  Vol. 9 No. 115 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

use as food or feed, or for processing, are now excluded from AIA. 

Text excluding LMOs destined for placement on the market was 

deleted. 

Notification:  Language requiring the party of export to ensure “a 

legal responsibility” for the accuracy of information provided by the 

exporter was changed to “a legal requirement.”

Socio-economic Considerations: A requirement for parties’ deci-

sions on import to be “consistent with their international obligations” 

was added.  Socio-economic considerations arising from the “impact” 

of LMOs may now be taken into account (the original Chair’s text 

stated “adverse impacts”). The reference to “risks to human health” 

was deleted, and language highlighting impacts with regard to “indige-

nous and local communities as referred to in Article 8(j) of the 

Convention” was replaced by “the value of biological diversity to 

indigenous and local communities.” Concerning research and informa-

tion exchange, a general reference to “any socio-economic impacts of 

LMOs, especially on indigenous and local communities” was included 

in place of earlier language on early warning and economic effects on 

local and indigenous communities. 

Liability and Redress: The two paragraphs in the Chair’s text 

were merged, and a reference to “studies to be carried out” was 

deleted.  The text now requires the first Conference of the Parties 

serving as the Meeting of the Parties to “adopt a process with respect to 

the appropriate elaboration of international rules and procedures in 

the field of liability and redress, for damage resulting from trans-

boundary movements of LMOs” (new text in italics). Revised 

language requires the process to analyze and take due account of “the 

ongoing process in international law on these matters.” Parties shall 

endeavor to complete the process within four (previously six) years. 

The Friends of the Chair then adjourned and planned to reconvene 

in the early afternoon. They reconvened at approximately 4:30 pm, at 

which time Chair Koester cancelled further Friends of the Chair meet-

ings. He announced that the Chair’s text would be presented to Plenary 

at 10:00 pm and that informal negotiations were still in progress. 

Plenary was subsequently postponed until 11:00 pm. At around 

10:45 pm, a revised text was issued (UNEP/CBD/BSWG/6/L.2/

Rev.2), the result of the work of the Legal Drafting Group, chaired by 

Lynn Holowesko (Bahamas). This text aimed to ensure legal coher-

ence and consistency in the text without altering its substantive 

content. 

At 11:45 pm, it was announced that the final BSWG plenary would 

convene at 8:00 am on Monday. Informal consultations were still 

underway and expected to continue all night. 

IN THE CORRIDORS

Optimism ran headlong into skepticism and confusion this 

weekend as the negotiations moved back and forth between intermit-

tent meetings of the Friends of the Chair, Friends of the Minister and a 

myriad of other informal consultations among interest groups. Many 

delegates complained about the chaotic schedule of meetings and a 

lack of clear signals as to the current state of play. One participant 

characterized the competing discussions as operating in “parallel 

universes,” colliding only while in line for fresh juices and Colombian 

coffee. 

By the evening, rumors abounded that the entire process had 

broken down and that some major groups were threatening to pull out. 

Continued deliveries of food and coffee to meeting rooms and the 

occasional messenger racing between the two negotiating camps 

provided the only signs that the talks were still underway. Environ-

mental NGOs circulated a paper listing the categories of LMOs 

currently excluded from the draft protocol. One joked that the current 

scope was so narrow as to effectively create the Cartagena Protocol on 

Animal Vaccines. 

A number of developing country delegates in particular expressed 

frustration over the lack of transparency and democracy in the negoti-

ating process over the weekend. While many continued to be kept in 

the dark over progress or lack thereof, others with “insider connec-

tions” said that the light at the end of the tunnel was still dim.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR

REGIONAL GROUP MEETINGS: Regional group meetings 

will be held at 7:00 am.

BSWG PLENARY: The BSWG Plenary will be held at 8:00 am. 

EXTRAORDINARY SESSION OF THE COP: The First 

Extraordinary Session of the Conference of the Parties (COP) will 

begin at 10:00 am. For security reasons, anyone wishing to attend the 

COP must be in the Centre by 9:30 am as the doors will be locked 

thereafter. 

Statements are expected to be delivered by: 

* Colombian President Andres Pastrana; 
* President of the Fourth Meeting of the Conference of the Parties;
* President of the First Extraordinary COP and Colombian Envi-

ronment Minister Juan Mayr; 
* Acting CBD Executive Secretary Hamdallah Zedan; and 
* UNEP Executive Director Klaus Töpfer. 


